SOUL FULL

GATEWAYS TO JEWISH PRAYER

A Momentum Publication

Written and Edited by Dr. Ronit Ziv-Kreger

With contributions from Momentum Trip Leaders, Community Leaders, Lay Leaders, Staff, and Participants



Soul Full Gateways to Jewish Prayer First edition, 2024 Maggid Books An imprint of Koren Publisher Jerusalem Ltd.

PO Box 8531, New Milford, CT 06776-8531, USA & PO Box 4044, Jerusalem 9104001, Israel www.maggidbooks.com

Copyright © 2024 Momentum Unlimited Inc. and Ronit Ziv-Kreger
All rights reserved
English translation by Ronit Ziv-Kreger
Translation copyright © 2024 Momentum Unlimited and Ronit Ziv-Kreger
All rights reserved
Please note that this volume includes sacred texts and should be treated
accordingly.

Original book and cover design by Ira Ginzburg

The creation of the book was made possible with the generous support of The Zalik Foundation.

Considerable research and expense have gone into the creation of this publication. No part of this publication (content or design) may be reproduced, stored in a retrieval system or transmitted in any form by any means electronic, mechanical, photocopying or otherwise, without the prior written permission of Momentum Unlimited, except in case of brief quotations embedded in critical articles or reviews.

Hardcover ISBN: 978-1-59264-675-3

Printed in the PRC

Dedicated with love to our daughters – Daniella, Arianna, and Sophia.

May you lead joyous and meaningful lives. May your souls be filled with Jewish wisdom. And may your prayers be answered for the good.

> Love, Your parents Helen and David Zalik

"This book is just beautiful. The translation is true to the original yet speaks to the heart and mind of the mature, contemporary Jew irrespective of background. It is profound and poetic, and opens the world of prayer to all. I see this work as a magnificent resource for connecting with The Creator.

I have reviewed every page, offered guidance throughout its development, and enthusiastically endorse it."

— Rabbi Yitzchak Berkovits, Rosh Kollel, Jerusalem Kollel and Rosh HaYeshiva, Yeshiyat Aish HaTorah

"This is the best book on Jewish prayer I have ever seen! It is an entire pedagogic approach. In the hands of a gifted teacher, this book is gold. The prayer for the first day of school stands as a mission statement for Jewish education. This book can preserve the Jewish soul and vision for the Jewish people, and especially for the lives and souls of our children. It should rest in every synagogue next to the siddur and chumash. I can only imagine its impact."

— Dr. Bruce Powell founded and lead three Jewish high schools and consulted on the founding of 23 more around North America. He is dean of the Masor School for Jewish Education and Leadership at the American Jewish University and is co-author of Raising A+ Human Beings: Crafting a Jewish School Culture of Academic Excellence and AP Kindness.

"This book presents profound value for Jewish parenting. It will enrich the values and wisdom you pass on to your children and bring the joy and spirit of Jewishness!"

Dorit Golender, Vice President of Community Relations for the Genesis
 Philanthropy Group and former Ambassador of the State of Israel to the Russian
 Federation

"I'm glad that the ancient debate between 'fixed prayer' and 'personal prayer' was never resolved. Together, we need the unifying power of fixed liturgy, but individuals need to plead from their own heart. Yet, the cry of the heart often goes unexpressed. Each prayer I read in this extraordinary book opened a latch in my soul, helping me unlock my own heartfelt words."

 Yochi Brandes, author of award-winning novels on Jewish figures who initiated revolutions

"Finding the holy in daily life has been my passion for the past three decades. The wonderful contributions in this book are a tremendous aid to help you do that. Read it. Use it. Share it."

 Alan Morinis, Ph.D., founder, the Mussar Institute; author, Everyday Holiness: The Jewish Spiritual Path of Mussar "Our ancestors understood the strength of prayer to open the gates of heaven. This collection includes personal prayers and the prayers of our sages, which were passed from parent to child and from grandparent to grandchild. This book is a guide to your inner self and to finding your place as a link in the chain of Jewish generations."

 Aliza Lavie, Ph.D., former member of the Knesset and author of A Jewish Woman's Prayer Book

"At a time when Jews are rediscovering their hunger for spirituality, this special book gives accessible and relatable expression to Jewish life. It is grounded in Jewish tradition and weaves in contemporary voices, including women's prayers. This book is for anyone seeking to come close to God."

 $-\,$ Miriam Peretz, educator and recipient of the Israel Prize for lifetime achievement

"Get ready for a spiritual blockbuster! This book is packed with practical tools that unlock the timeless wisdom of our heritage, all while inviting you to forge your own unique connection with the Creator, the Jewish people and yourself. It's your ultimate, inspiring companion on the journey of spiritual growth and self-discovery!"

— Saul Blinkoff, Hollywood Director/Animator (DISNEY/DREAMWORKS/NETFLIX,) & host of the podcast Life of Awesome!

"This book has taken my breath away! What a creation of love, dedication, and soulfulness."

— Hedy Schleifer, founder, Encounter- Centered Couples Therapy

"This book is a beautiful guide to living our best lives, offering pathways to spiritual growth, gratitude, meaning, compassion, and hope. Inspired by the words of these prayers, we can create the space to flourish."

— Dr Sue Morris, Senior Lecturer in Psychology, UNSW Sydney and author of The Rubber Brain: A Toolkit for Optimising your Study, Work and Life!

"The Talmud defines prayer, paradoxically, as "the labor of the heart" (Taanit 2a). On the one hand, labor, discipline, habit; on the other, emotion, spontaneity, heart. This extraordinary collection brings together the discipline of daily worship with the spontaneity of personal supplication. It is a call to prayer, a beautiful manual for the labor of the heart."

 Gila Fine, lecturer of rabbinic literature, author of The Madwoman in the Rabbi's Attic: Rereading the Women of the Talmud



Contents

Forewordxv
Notes on Translation, Transliteration, and Hebrew Text xvii
Introductionxx
Rise Up: Morning Blessings
Introduction
Gratitude
Handwashing
Health of the Body
Health of the Soul
Blessing for Torah Study
Priestly Blessing
Family, Life, and Community
Tzitzit
Tallit
Tefillin
Love Your Neighbor
Intelligence
Freedom
Eyes to See
Liberation
The Kindness of Clothing
Standing Tall
Stability 36
Guidance
Perspective
Jewish Community
Fresh Outlook
Strength
Soul Full Together
Heart's Song: Pesukei Dezimra
Introduction 5

	Blessed Is the One Who Spoke: Baruch She'amar	56
	Speak of Wonders: <i>Hodu</i>	58
	Serve with Gladness	60
	Happy: Ashrei	62
	Seeing Goodness: Halleluyah	66
	Connected with Nature: Halleluyah	68
	Sing a New Song: Halleluyah	70
	Praise with Song and Dance: Halleluyah	72
	Song of the Sea: Shirat Hayam	74
	Song and Praise: Yishtabach	76
70	Powerful Listening: The <i>Shema</i> and Its B	lessings
9	Introduction	80
	The Gift of Light	82
	Recurring Renewal	84
	Tremendous Love	86
	Listen, Israel	88
	Blessed Is the Name	90
	You Shall Love	92
	Symbol and Story	94
	An Ongoing Reminder	96
	Sea of Gratitude	98
	A Solid Foundation	100
	Chan d'annaith Williamh anni dal	
1()5	Standing with Will: The <i>Amidah</i>	
	Introduction	
	Opening	
	Ancestors	
	Divine Might	
	Holiness	
	Knowledge	
	Return	
	Forgiveness	
	Redemption	120

	Healing	122
	Prosperity	124
	Ingathering	126
	Justice	128
	Protection from Threats	130
	The Righteous	132
	Rebuilding Jerusalem	134
	Kingdom of David	136
	Respond to Our Prayer	138
	Service	140
	Thanking and Acknowledging	142
	Peace	144
	In Closing: <i>Elohai</i>	146
1 40	Singing Our Story Toroh Dooding	
49	Singing Our Story: Torah Reading	
11/	Introduction	
	Opening the Ark	
	Opening the Heart	
	Shema Said upon Removing the Torah	
	Torah Reading/Calling	
	Raising the Torah	162
	Placing the Torah in the Ark	164
	Holy Transitions: Chatzi Kaddish	166
	Soul Full Together	168
171	Ending with Intention: Concluding Pra	yers
	Introduction	172
	The Power of Praise	174
	Trust in the Eternal Presence	178
	Psalm of the Day	180
	Mourner's Kaddish	184

Giving Thanks: Blessings for the Everyday and the Exceptional

Introduction
Blessing the Home and Affixing a Mezuzah
Birkat Habayit – Blessing the Home
Bedtime Shema Part I
Bedtime Shema Part II
Bedtime Shema Part III
Bedtime Shema Part IV
Traveler's Prayer
Prayer for the State of Israel
Prayer for Israel Defense Forces Soldiers
Healthcare Worker's Prayer
Encountering the Wonders of Nature with Gratitude 208
Upon Seeing a Rainbow
Upon Seeing Lightning
Upon Hearing Thunder or an Intense Storm
Encountering the Beauty of Nature with Awe
Upon Seeing the Ocean or the Mediterranean Sea 210
Upon Seeing Trees in Bloom
for the First Time that Season
Upon Noticing Beauty in Nature
The Blessing of Scent
Upon Smelling Fragrant Trees and Plants
Upon Smelling Fragrant Herbs, Grasses, and Flowers 212
Encountering the Unknown with Strength
Upon Hearing Good News
Upon Hearing Bad News
Encountering Miracles with Wonder
Upon Arriving at a Place Where Miracles Happened
to the Jewish People
Upon Arriving at a Place Where Miracles Happened
to You or Your Family
Soul Full Together 218

Kindling Joy: The Magic of Shabbat
Introduction
Separating the Challah
Creating Shabbat Light
Blessing the Children
For Boys
For Girls
Peace Be upon You: Shalom Aleichem
A Woman of Strength: Eshet Chayil
Shabbat Evening Kiddush
Handwashing
Blessing for Eating Bread: Challah
Shabbat Day Kiddush: Kiddush Rabbah
Song for Shabbat: Menuchah VeSimchah –
Restorative Rest and Joy
Short Shabbat Songs
Songs for the Final Hour of Shabbat: The Third Shabbat Meal $$. 250
Beloved of the Soul: Yedid Nefesh
Transitioning from Shabbat to the Workweek: Havdalah 25°
Part I
Blessings of Separation: Havdalah
Part II
Celebrate – Shavua Tov!
Soul Full Together
Calabastia sub a Vasas II ali dana at II ana
Celebrating the Year: Holidays at Home
Introduction
New Moon/Rosh Hodesh
Festival Candle Lighting
Kiddush for Festival Evenings
Kiddush for the Evening of Rosh Hashanah
Rosh Hashanah Symbolic Foods
Daytime Kiddush for Festivals and Rosh Hashanah $\ldots 280$
Spiritual Cleansing Ritual: Tashlich 28

Yom Kippur	283
Sukkot	285
Sigd, an Ethiopian Holiday	288
The Miracles of Hanukkah and Purim	289
Passover and the Search for <i>Chametz</i> (Leavened Bread)	292
Holocaust and Heroism Remembrance	294
Israel Memorial and Independence	294
Shavuot	295
Soul Full Together	296
Hearing the Soul Speak: Prayers for Vulnerable Moments	
Introduction	
Mind and Body	
Health	
Before Surgery	
Hagomel Prayer after Being in Danger	
Upon Recovery from Illness	
For Forgiveness	
Inner Calm	
Prayer for Moments of Anxiety	306
For Wisdom, Understanding, and Awareness	000
in Studying and Teaching Torah	
Self-Esteem	
Patience and Trust	
New Beginnings: Immersing in a <i>Mikveh</i>	
•	
Aging with Dignity	
Hope	
Seeking a Soulmate	
Seeking Fertility	
Seeking Love and Friendship with a Foe	
A Woman's Prayer for the Shabbat before the New Moon	
Love	
Upon Getting Engaged to Be Married	320

	For a Bridegroom	322
	Bride's Prayer	323
	A Father's Prayer for His Daughter/Son and	
	New Son/Daughter (In-Law) upon Their Wedding \ldots	
	Prayer of a Mother-in-Law	326
	For Intimacy of a Married Couple	328
	Fostering Love in One's Family	331
Biı	rth	332
	For Conception	332
	For Fertility	334
	Labor	336
	Preparing for Birth	338
	Becoming a Mother	339
	Becoming a Father	340
	The Gift of a Daughter – Upon Giving a Girl Her Name	341
	Welcoming a Son – A Mother's Prayer before Her Son's	
	Circumcision	343
	For a Father before His Son Is Circumcised	345
	Adoption	347
Ch	nildren	348
	Nursing for the First Time	348
	Raising Children	349
	First Day of School	350
	A Mother's Prayer before Her Son's Bar Mitzvah	
	or Her Daughter's Bat Mitzvah	351
	Grown Children	356
	Mother Upon Her Daughter's First Period	358
	Fostering Children's Healthy Independence	359
Ho	ome and Homeland	360
	Seeking a Safe Home	360
	Prayer for Our Homes	361
	Visiting Israel	362
	Prayer at the Kotel	363
Le	tting Go	364
	Upon the Loss of a Pet	364
	Grieving	365

	Losing a Pregnancy	366
	For Divorce or a Breakup	367
	Grieving for a Child	369
	A Prayer for Peaceful Death	370
	Confession before Death	371
	Before Memorial Anniversary: Yahrtzeit	373
	Successes and Challenges	374
	On Taking a New Role	374
	Retirement	375
	Before a Talk on a Hard-to-Share or Hard-to-Hear Topic	. 376
	Success	377
	Sustenance	378
	Prioritizing	379
	Taking Responsibility	380
	Serving in a Leadership Role	381
	Facing a Challenge or a Troubling Situation	382
	Loving an Addict	383
	Struggling with Addiction	384
	Seeking Guidance	385
	Before a Negotiation	386
	Avoiding Gossip and Negative Speech	387
	Seeking to Find a Lost Object	388
	Wrestling with God	389
	For Clarity of Purpose in Connection with God	390
	Prayer for Peace	391
	Prayer for Realizing God's Oneness	393
	Soul Full Together	394
399	Jewish Meditation: An Invitation to Your Fullest Self	
	Introduction	398
	Quieting	402
	Attentive Observing	
	Observing Nature	410
	Observing Your Breath with Gratitude	
	Observing the Self	414

A Breathing Practice	418
Speaking Openheartedly	425
-r - 8 -r	
Appendices	
The Structure of Morning Prayer (Diagram)	432
Seven Prisms.	434
Glossary	437
Add Your Own Personal Prayers	454
Indexes	458
Acknowledgments	.448
About the Author and Editor	451
About Momentum	452

Foreword

After I returned from Momentum's very first trip to Israel in 2009, I started to sing the *Shema* each night to my daughters, Daniella (then three years old) and Arianna (then one and a half; Sophia was not even born yet). It felt foreign, uncomfortable, and even slightly disingenuous. After all, having grown up in the former Soviet Union, where practicing Judaism (or any religion, for that matter) was illegal, I had learned that there was no God.

Yet, night after night, as I sang and reaffirmed to my daughters that God was listening, I started to consider that maybe God was. That led to questions. The questions led to learning and the learning to decisions.

With that first utterance of the *Shema*, I chose to raise my daughters in a world in which human life has purpose and actions have meaning. I chose to raise my daughters in a world with God.

Our lives are a series of small, uncomfortable actions we call "growth" in the context of a greater reality.

I hope the chapters that follow will lead you to wonder, question, learn, and touch this greater reality in ways that are a blessing to you and others.

Helen Zalik President of the Board, Momentum



I remember my first prayer. I was a little girl in Toronto, and my bubby, of blessed memory, took me to a bingo game. The sights and sounds were thrilling, and my heart was beating out of my chest because I needed only one more number to win. I looked up and prayed to God: "B-17, B-17.... I'll never ask for anything else ever again." They did not call B-17.

It took years of "Simon Says" prayer on the High Holidays ("The congregation will please rise...") before I was able to tiptoe back to prayer in my midtwenties. Many years later, in 2008, I gathered with seven other women in the mountains of Utah to dream, to envision a "home-run" idea that just might strengthen an ever-weakening Jewish people. We were very different as people but had similar upbringings and experiences with prayer – uninspired

standing and sitting in synagogue, slowly drifting away from Judaism along with our spouses and children.

Perhaps, we realized, it was time to understand why we stand...and what we stand for.

We came up with many ideas, but one took off like a rocket: Focus on the Jewish mother. Influence the influencer. The vision that took root all those years ago is now an organization called Momentum. Our flagship program has brought tens of thousands of Jewish mothers (and now fathers) from all over the world to Israel for an eight-day transformational experience. The Israel journey is part of a life-changing year of learning and growth that takes place in home communities in partnership with hundreds of organizations worldwide.

Each day of the Israel experience unpacks a Jewish value that unites us, and one of those values is *emunah*, faithfulness and trust. The highlight of that day is visiting the Kotel, the Western Wall in the Old City of Jerusalem. Just before walking arm in arm to touch its ancient stones, we share many of the ideas that you will find here in *Soul Full* – that prayer is a deep, personal conversation with God, a connection between you and your Creator in any language, at any time, that spills out from the depths of your heart and soul.

Many tears are shed as we pray for those we love most. We ask for health, success, and a clear path to our true potential. We call out for Israel and the Jewish people, for unity, for protection. We pray for healing on behalf of the world, for peace, harmony, and loving fellowship.

It is a transformational moment. We invite you to be part of it. Turn these pages now and get a personal taste of what it means to connect and elevate.

May your soul, indeed, become full.

Lori Palatnik Founding Director, Momentum

Notes on Translation

Because the Almighty is not limited by any language, we can pray in our mother tongue. But in addition to the prayers of the heart, there is a boundless landscape of Jewish liturgy layered with meaning. Each phrase, each word, leads us to ever-deeper terrain. Even among native Hebrew speakers, fluency in the lexicon of our prayers – which draws from Biblical Hebrew, Rabbinic Hebrew, and Aramaic – is rare. So, while we can pray in any language, accessing the depth of ancient prayers, our shared heritage, calls for translation and explanation.

Reflecting on the challenge of translation, Canadian Jewish author Anne Michaels wrote that translators must make a choice – some sacrifice detail to meaning, others sacrifice meaning to exactitude. While the writer moves from life to language, the translator moves from language to life. Both are immigrants.

Embarking on the journey from sacred language to life as your translator, with trepidation, I've felt the tension Michaels so aptly describes. In many cases, a literal translation of prayer causes the words to lose the essential meaning and poetic flow. But to move too far afield from literal meaning can render prayer unrecognizable, a violation of integrity and reverence. I have sought balance, a commitment to both essence and precision.

Much care and prayer went into the decision regarding translating the well-known formula that opens most blessings, *Baruch Atah Adonai Eloheinu Melech ha'olam*. We hope the result, "Blessed are You, *Adonai*, our God, Majesty of the world," moves you from language to life, honoring the essence of the Hebrew and the magnitude of its meaning in a vibrant, authentic, and accessible way.

God's most intimate name, the four-letter Name of God (π-1-π-1), is not pronounced. Our sages' guidance states that in prayer, we say *Adonai* when this name appears, which is how it is translated in this book. You can learn more about this intimate Name of God and about the meaning of the word *Adonai* on pages 434–436.

¹ Nefesh HaChaim (2:13) says that even with good translation and explanation we access only "a drop in the ocean" of the depths of meaning encoded by our sages.

But how to translate references to God using pronouns? God is neither female nor male, but Hebrew is a gendered language that renders God most often as a masculine noun and sometimes as a feminine noun. When you encounter pronouns for God in this translation, you will find three options. Depending on context, rhythm, and grammar, we use the Name itself in lieu of a pronoun, the neutral pronoun You or Your, or a masculine or feminine pronoun, following the Hebrew.

The second part of the well-known formula of blessings, asher kideshanu bemitzvotav, is rendered "who has made us holy with Your commandments." This choice was made following careful consultation with rabbinic authorities, since the Hebrew is gendered and strict precision would have it translated as "His commandments."

When an English word serves as a placeholder for God or the Name of God – for example, the Almighty – the words are capitalized to designate them as honorific names and to give clarity to the reference. However, when those same words are used to describe God or God's Presence, they are not capitalized; for example: God is almighty.

German Jewish philosopher Walter Benjamin compared the work of translation to an archaeologist painstakingly reconstructing an ancient vessel. Just as shards of pottery must be recognizable as pieces of a larger vessel, both the original and the translation must be recognizable as part of a greater narrative.

We invite you to explore the greater language of prayer as you make your way through this book. Some of the translation choices may stand out to you; others you won't even notice. The great writer Hayim Nahman Bialik, often referred to as Israel's national poet, famously wrote that reading in translation is like kissing through a veil. It is our hope that *Soul Full* offers you opportunities not only to peek through the veil but, at times, even to lift it; we would be honored to be a part of the relationship that ensues.

Notes on Transliteration

This book was designed with many different entry points to access the power of Jewish prayer. We hope these gateways open you up to an authentic connection with your own soul and a deeper relationship with the Soul of souls.

You may notice that not every blessing and prayer in this collection is transliterated. Transliteration, the art of rendering Hebrew into another language, can be helpful in many cases. Yet transliteration often results in the recitation of words without understanding their meaning, which is unlikely to engender a spiritual experience. Because we intend this book to be a resource to elevate your soul, elicit reflection, and inspire growth – all of which benefit from understanding what you are saying – we often bypass transliteration and instead encourage you to pray in your native language. God understands you.²

When we do include transliteration, take note: we do so with intention. Morning gratitude, *Shema*, and exploring Shabbat blessings with your family are all touchpoints for venturing into Hebrew, the shared language of the Jewish people.

2 Babylonian Talmud, tractate Sotah 33a.





Introduction

WELCOME TO SOUL FULL

How do you connect to yourself, to others, to God, through prayer? It is the central question that animates this book, but it is not a new question. It has been asked for centuries by sages and scholars, parents and children, longtime practitioners and newcomers alike. As with so many of the formative questions in Judaism, there is no single answer. The answers are found in the exploration. It is by seeking that your soul emerges – your inner self, your core, that most enduring essence that transcends the everyday, outlives the corporeal, and makes you who you are.

To connect with Jewish prayer is to connect with your soul. This book is your invitation to embark upon this timeless and often challenging mission. It is an invitation to nourish your core by exploring the words of our people, words that have been crafted with care and intention in the shared Jewish language of possibility and potential. That is why we call it *Soul Full*.

These pages offer a rich collection of prayers, blessings, and reflections. Whatever your relationship with a Power greater than yourself, we hope you can find yourself here. Like any relationship, developing and sustaining a closeness with God is work, dynamic and complex. Even the word "God" is challenging – an English placeholder for a myriad of Hebrew designations, none of which can hold that which is beyond language to express. We encourage you to learn more about the name of God along your journey, leaning on the resources in this book (see p. 434) for support. There are times when you might feel distance and times when the existence of God feels abundantly clear. We each have our own journey – and we are on the fast track when we show up, seek, and engage.

xxiv

MOMENTUM'S APPROACH

Momentum's¹ approach is woven throughout this book – inspiring you to explore Jewish values, to bring new insights into your life to strengthen your family and community, and to embrace unity without uniformity. Embedded in prayer are the Jewish values of learning and growth, courage, faithfulness and trust, generosity and gratitude, and human dignity. These values help you chip away at the shell of indifference that can all too easily begin encasing your heart.

Beyond facilitating an exploration of values, prayer ties you to your community around the world, offering you a unique opportunity to connect to Israel as you join with other members of the global Jewish family to turn toward Jerusalem with a shared yearning for a better world for all. In this book, we've gathered prayers from around the world to focus on that which unites us rather than divides us, with a hope that we all connect through its blessings and poetry to a fuller spectrum of people with love, empathy, and a calmer and more receptive heart.

USING THIS BOOK

Each chapter of this book is a gateway crafted with *you* in mind. Most chapters feature a selection from structured prayer on the left side, and personal prayer on the right. The structured words on the left are texts used the world over for generations. They are full of tried-and-true wisdom. They are a central component of the shared vocabulary of the Jewish people. They offer a language that will allow you to worship with any Jewish community around the world. These verses are a daily reminder that regardless of where you are on your Jewish journey, you are a part of something bigger

1 For more about Momentum, see p. 452 and momentum unlimited.org.

than yourself – a global Jewish family, past, present, and future. On the right side of each page, you will find opportunities for reflection and connection – explanations, stories, and questions designed to help elucidate structured prayer. There are also personal prayers born of the yearning, experience, and expression of our global community. We inherit this legacy of improvisation and personalization of prayer from our ancestors. Take, for example, the prayers of Hannah or the poetry of King David's psalms; such prayers have been part of the Jewish liturgy throughout the ages.

A book of this nature can be daunting, regardless of how familiar you may be with Jewish prayer. Prayer is a process – it's not all or nothing. If you have five minutes, open your heart with one of the morning blessings on pages 1–50 and elevate your mood with gratitude. If you have time at the end of the day, keep *Soul Full* on your nightstand and spend a few minutes with the Bedtime *Shema* on pages 192–198 before you fall asleep. Follow your heart and start with the content that speaks to you. It is our hope that you encounter the presence of the Divine on every page, in each word, and in the spaces in between.

Soul Full is a resource for individuals around the world, for anyone who seeks a path to the soul, to the love, creativity, and joy within us, to anyone who is curious about the path of Jewish prayer. The book can also be a springboard for group learning with your loved ones or in partnership with one or more friends. Many of the chapters conclude with "Soul Full Together," a guide similar to a book club, designed to build confidence, connection, and community. It includes activities and conversation questions for small groups and families with children of all ages.

WELCOMING THE SOUL

We are each born with an inner essence that is free and unencumbered. Whether we call this essence our core or our soul, it's where we feel peace and exuberance. It's where we express love. Connecting with it inspires us to act authentically and with open and innate curiosity. And yet, life can all too often tarnish or conceal this inner core. Uncovering your original center and living from it is what we mean when we say *Soul Full*.

There are those who access their core in soul-awakening moments while dancing, skiing, or hiking; others access it through poetry, art, meditation, or

xxvi

intimacy; some access it through history, physics, or gardening. No matter the way, spiritual work and growth are about removing the tarnish and returning us to ourselves, to our original wonder. Inner success is about discovering your true self and expressing it in your thoughts, feelings, actions, and words.

PRAYER AS A REFLEXIVE VERB

Prayer has been called the quill of the heart. Indeed, words have a role in this work of discovery and rediscovery. God created the world with words! With words and the silence between them, we touch the immortal, transmitting something beyond place and time. Words and silence take us from occasional soul-awakening moments into spiritual practices that have the power to dissolve the barriers concealing our core. They offer pathways to reside more regularly in connection with our soul.

That is why the Hebrew word for praying, *lehitpallel*, is a *reflexive* verb – an action that we do unto ourselves. We intervene with ourselves. We self-reflect and self-assess. Our sages describe the practice of *lehitpallel* as the service and work of the heart. The famous humanistic psychologist Carl Rogers asserted that for people to grow, they need an environment that provides them with a space for open and genuine self-disclosure, acceptance of positive regard, and empathic listening. He wrote, "The curious paradox is that when I accept myself as I am, then I change." With a prayer practice, you can build this for yourself. With time, the presence you encounter is your own soul, the Oneness that is your essence, which is part of the One. That which is beyond the self provides this empathic acceptance and love. Further, the energy of your soul is infectious; when you activate it in yourself, it's easier to draw it out in others, and those around you will get stirred as well.

PERSONAL PRAYER

My grandmother Tzivia was a person whose soul was evident to all – the kind of person almost everyone befriends quickly. She was a warm and engaging listener who seemed to enter the world of anyone she was with. She spoke five languages fluently and learned them not in school but rather in conversation

² Carl R. Rogers, *On Becoming a Person: A Therapist's View of Psychotherapy* (Boston: Houghton Mifflin, 1995), 17.

with her diverse neighbors in Jerusalem. Her speech was playful, peppered with colorful idioms and stories from an array of cultures.

But what stood out to me most about her words was how much they were in conversation with the Beyond. Throughout the day, she addressed God as a beloved friend, a coach, a confidant – whether she was cooking, shopping in the *shuk* (market), helping at an orphanage, resolving conflicts among neighbors, or just crossing the street.

My grandmother's prayers were conversational and deeply personal. They remind me of the prayers so abundant in Torah stories, the prayers of our ancestors who turned to God with the burdens of their hearts and minds. The Torah has a whopping 140 references to people praying, not to mention the entire book of Psalms. Of those 140 references, the rabbis elevate one as the model: Hannah's prayer.

So, in closing, we turn to this paradigmatic story of Hannah. Hannah is painfully barren. Her hope is to have a child. She goes on a pilgrimage of prayer to plead for that child.³ She prays with deep intention and presence. She speaks from her heart, forming the words of her prayer with her lips, speaking softly so as not to be heard by others. Her unique manner of prayer captured the attention of the sages throughout history, so much so that they used her model as the basis upon which laws of Jewish prayer would be built.⁴

Many explanations have been offered for why Hannah was selected from all the possible biblical exemplars of how to pray. One compelling reason is that Hannah links her personal prayer with big, audacious dreams for a better world. The Torah records a second prayer of Hannah's in which she prays for a better world. She asks God to strengthen those who are faltering and weak so that the hungry will hunger no more. "God, raise the poor from the dust, lift up the needy from the dunghill, to seat them with nobles." She prays for the demise of oppressors who abuse their power.

- 3 1 Samuel 1.
- 4 Babylonian Talmud, tractate Brachot 31a.
- 5 I learned this from Rabbi David Silber, founder and dean of the Drisha Institute of Jewish Education in New York.
- 6 1 Samuel 2:1-10.

xxviii

Hannah closes her prayer by asking for leadership that will follow God's values. Hannah's son becomes the prophet Samuel, who anoints King Saul and King David. Hannah captures something essential about prayer, not only in *how* she prays but also in asking for what she most yearns for and linking it to big, audacious dreams for elevating the world for the benefit of all.

This book is Momentum's prayer that we all dream big and pray audaciously.

From Hannah's timeless prayer to Grandma Tzivia's conversational murmurings to the traditional prayers of the *siddur* to the personal prayers whispered around the world today, all these forms of prayer hold a sanctity that can lift and illuminate our lives.

Rabbi Jonathan Sacks beautifully describes the siddur as "the choral symphony the covenantal people has sung to God across forty centuries, from the days of the patriarchs until the present day. In it, we hear the voices of Israel's prophets, priests and kings, its sages and scholars, poets and philosophers, rationalists and mystics singing in calibrated harmony."

We hope you hear your own prayers within this calibrated harmony spanning the generations.

May this companion become *your* companion. May it serve you as you deepen your connection to a life lived with soul. May you be blessed to have your prayers answered in a way you can palpably feel, understand, and cherish. May these chapters be gateways to a world of words that belongs uniquely to you, in this journey we walk together.

Ronit Ziv-Kreger Director of Education, Momentum

⁷ Rabbi Jonathan Sacks, *The Koren Siddur: American Edition* (Jerusalem: Koren, 2009),





Introduction2
Gratitude4
Handwashing6
Health of the Body 8
Health of the Soul10
Blessing for Torah Study12
Priestly Blessing
Family, Life, and Community 16
<i>Tzitzit</i> 18
Tallit18
Tefillin20
Love Your Neighbor22
Intelligence

Freedom
Eyes to See
Liberation30
The Kindness of Clothing32
Standing Tall34
Stability36
Guidance38
Perspective40
Jewish Community42
Fresh Outlook
Strength46
Soul Full Together



Morning is the master key that unlocks the new day and its potential. When you elevate the first moments of your day, every hour after is imbued with deeper promise.

Jewish tradition provides a "morning outline" to usher us forward most powerfully. It is called *Birkot HaShachar*, literally "dawn blessings." This ancient spiritual technology provides a template for your own dawn, allowing you to meet the day ahead focused, open, and inspired.

The Morning Blessings cultivate awareness, gratitude, grounding, and grace. Every blessing in the series moves you forward from passive sleep to enlivened awareness and action.

In Hebrew, the words "preparation" (hachanah) and "intention" (kavanah) share the same root. It is also the same root as the word for "yes" (ken). When you prepare for the day and clarify your intentions for the day, you access the natural positivity in your core. In that mix, possibilities unfold. Birkot HaShachar are an invitation to start with gratitude and to ask: What is my yes today? How can I step into my life with more of my potential?

In the Morning Blessings, each of the themes not only describes the physical, but also offers a vision of how the physical symbolizes our psychological as well as spiritual strivings. For example, the physical ability to stand and stretch our bodies can be used as a psycho-spiritual symbol of our personal freedom to stand up for what matters to us. This morning ritual reminds you that you need not be dragged down by yesterday. Today, new possibilities are open.

Introduction

The Morning Blessings are a guide toward becoming a blessing yourself. As a practice, they help you connect with your soul and access your purpose. You have a unique contribution to share with the world. In honoring your uniqueness, you reflect God's call to Abraham: *Go forth...and you will be a blessing.* These words can be as much of an inspiration for you today as they have been for our ancestors for generations.

May the Morning Blessings come to be (or continue to be) a reminder to be exactly who you are meant to be – to keep finding ways to connect to the One within and beyond, and to manifest that connection throughout your day, sharing your passion for life with others. May you meet each morning with an affirmative "yes" of preparation and intention, and may these ritual blessings transform the content and depth of your days.



GRATITUDE

Upon waking, we give thanks for a new day and for the gift of life. We acknowledge God's presence, but without mentioning God's name, which we will do only after handwashing (see p. 6).

מוֹדָה/מוֹדָה אֲנִי לְפָנֶיךְ מֶלֶךְ חֵי וְקַיָּם,

שֶׁהֶחֶזַרְתָּ בִּי נִשְׁמָתִי בְּחֶמְלָה,

ַרַבָּה אֱמוּנָתֶךְ.

Thankful am I in Your Presence, sustaining Master of all life, for restoring my soul within me with compassion; great is Your faithfulness and trust!

Modeh/modah ani lefanecha, Melech chai vekayam, shehechezarta bi nishmati bechemlah, rabbah emunatecha.

THINK

It's easy to take for granted that we'll wake up to a new day each morning, but each day of life is a gift. Our first morning words affect our consciousness for the day. Toward what are you orienting yourself today? What gifts do you want to call to your attention to set your intention for the day?

REFLECT

If we are so grateful, we might expect the prayer to end with affirming our faithfulness to and trust in God, to whom we are expressing our gratitude. But the prayer ends with God's faithfulness to and trust in us! What is one thing you can do to make this a good day? How can this action reflect God's trust in you?

CONNECT

Jewish tradition invites us to assume an "attitude of gratitude" from the moment we open our eyes. Grammatically, it would be correct to say, "I am thankful." However, the order in the prayer is "Thankful am I." Our first word of the day is an expression of appreciation rather than a direct reference to ourselves. What might your family life be like if you and members of your family begin each morning taking stock of your gifts and blessings?

PERSONAL PRAYER

I thank You for the nature that surrounds me, for the love and friendship in my life, for the ability to discover and enjoy this world.

Give me the strength to connect and be connected.

Grant me the spiritual courage to create, accepting and easing the burden of my loved ones.

- Shani Zadikario, Raanana, Israel



HANDWASHING

Wash hands by taking a special cup with handles dedicated for this purpose and pouring water three times over your right hand, then three times over your left, and say the following blessing.

בָּרוּךְ אַתָּה יהוה אֱלֹהֵינוּ מֶלֶךְ הָעוֹלָם, אֲשֶׁר קִדְשָׁנוּ בְּמִצְוֹתָיו וְצוָנוּ עַל נְטִילַת ידִים. Blessed are You, Adonai, our God, Majesty of the world, who has made us holy with Your commandments and instructed us regarding washing (elevating) the hands.

THINK

Water symbolizes rebirth. The breaking of embryonic fluid ushers in a baby's birth. Passing through the Red Sea ushered in the birth of the Jewish nation. Each morning, after acknowledging that our soul is newly refreshed and restored, the ritual washing of hands orients us to feel reborn. Each day is a new beginning!

CONNECT

The Hebrew word used for "washing" in this prayer also means "elevating." With gratitude for sleep's rest and fresh perspective, we wash away its inactivity and prepare our hands for the sacred service of taking action to care for our family and community.

REFLECT

What would you like to wash away this morning to approach the day with fresh strength and emotional clarity? Why do you think the washing ritual is directed at our hands rather than, say, our faces or another part of our body?

PERSONAL PRAYER

As I do this ritual washing of the hands, I intend to purify myself and wash away what is extraneous from the night and the day that has passed.

As I raise my hands to my eyes, I intend to be as an extended hand of the Creator in my thoughts, words, and actions, a spark of the essence of the One whose entire Being is loving-kindness.

Please, God, bless my hands and actions so that I can serve as a faithful channel of divine abundance in the world.

- Orit Avivi-Cohen, Kfar Uria, Israel



HEALTH OF THE BODY

This blessing of gratitude for the intricate wonders of our body is said upon exiting the restroom.

בָּרוּךְ אַתָּה יהוה אֶלֹהֵינוּ מֶלֶךְ הָעוֹלָם, אֲלֹהֵינוּ מֶלֶךְ הָעוֹלָם, וּבָרָא בוֹ נְּלָבִים נְקָבִים, חֲלוּלִים חֲלוּלִים. נְּלוּי וְיָדוּעַ לִפְנֵי כִּפֵּא כְבוֹדֶךְ שָׁאִם יִפְּתָחַ אֶחָד מֵהֶם, אוֹ יִפְתַם אֶחָד מֵהֶם, אִי אֶפְשָׁר לְהָתְקַיֵם וְלַעֲמֹד לְפָנֶיךְ. Blessed are You, Adonai, our God, Majesty of the world, who formed humans with wisdom and created within each openings and cavities.

It is revealed and known before the throne of Your glory that if even one of them were to be ruptured or blocked, it would be impossible to survive and stand in Your Presence.

בָּרוּךְ אַתָּה יהוה, רוֹפֵא כָל בָּשָׂר וּמֵפְלִיא לַעֲשׁוֹת. Blessed are You, *Adonai*, Healer of all flesh, who does wonders.

THINK

This prayer expresses gratitude to God for the workings of the human body. It is recited after using the restroom. It's easy to take good health for granted until a challenge presents itself. The inner workings of our bodies are intricate, and their entire balance can be thrown off when one part does not work. This prayer serves as a daily reminder to express gratitude for our health and to do our part to preserve it.

REFLECT

What is one thing you can do today to care for your physical or mental health?

CONNECT

When a baby is born, the airway, which was closed in utero, opens so the baby can breathe.

Other passages in the circulatory and respiratory systems close for healthy heart functioning.

The Talmud puts it well: "Closed passages open and open passages close; otherwise the infant could not survive for even one hour." Such hidden miracles take place in our bodies every single day!

PERSONAL PRAYER:

Blessed are You for creating my beloved children within me, completely whole, faithful, and wise at their roots.

May they always go in their unique ways, accompanied by hope.

When I stand before You it is clear how fragile life is, how fleeting.

Keep my family safe, our bodies and minds healthy, so that we may do Your will.

- Roni Ezra Friedman, Jerusalem, Israel



HEALTH OF THE SOUL

אֱלֹהַי, נְשָׁמָה שֶׁנָּתַתָּ בִּי טְהוֹרָה הִיא. My God, the soul You placed in me is pure.

אתָה ברָאתָה, אתָה יצְרָתָה, אתָה נפְחָתָה בִּי, וְאַתָּה מִשׁפֶּרָה בְּקרבִּי. You created it, You formed it, You breathed it into me, and You sustain it within me.

ְאָתָּה עָתִיד לִשְלָה מִמֶּנִי, וּלְהַחֲזִירָה בִּי לֶעֶתִיד לָבוֹא. כָּל זְמַן שֶׁהַנְּשָׁמָה בְקְרְבִּי, מוֹדָה/מוֹדָה אֲנִי לְפָנֶיךְ יהוה אֱלֹהַי וֵאלֹהֵי אֲבוֹתַי, רְבוֹן כָּל הַמַּעֲשִׂים, אֲדוֹן כָּל הַנִּשְׁמוֹת. Though one day You will take it from me,
You will restore it to me
in the time to come.
As long as the soul is within me,
I will thank You, Adonai,
my God and God of my ancestors,
Director of all events,
Master of all souls.

בָּרוּךְ אַתָּה יהוה, הַמַּחֲזִיר נְשָׁמוֹת לִפְגַרִים מֵתִים.

Blessed are You, *Adonai*, who restores souls to lifeless bodies.

THINK

Each person has a unique soul. This prayer reminds us that God breathed our soul into us and that no matter what our past actions, no matter how we feel, our soul is untainted. It is inherently pure, free from distortions of past experiences or moods. Jewish mystical tradition tells us that each soul is part of God. You have a divine soul! This endows you with awesome power to carry out its mission in this world.

REFLECT

In Hebrew, the words for "soul" and "breath" come from the same root. Deep breathing can lower stress in the body.³ How could bringing attention to your breath in the morning benefit you? What other times in the day might this be helpful to you?

CONNECT

Our soul craves to reunite with its Source. Rabbi Abraham Isaac HaKohen Kook, the first chief rabbi of pre-state Israel, says that the soul is always praying. When we make time to be prayerful and listen for our soul's prayer, we support the divine bonding for which the soul yearns.

PERSONAL PRAYER

Creator of the universe my spark has extinguished, the husk around my soul has tightened.

My inner joy has faded, my soul is beating, searching, awakening anew each morning, asking: Where are You?

Orna Ohayon, Shoham, Israel

³ https://www.health.harvard.edu/mind-and-mood/relaxation-techniques-breath-control-helps-quell-errant-stress-response.

⁴ Olat Ra'aya, introduction, vol. I, sec. 1.



BLESSING FOR TORAH STUDY

Judaism teaches us that study is greater even than prayer. So before beginning to pray, we engage in a little Torah and Talmud learning (see the next two pages), preceded by these blessings.

בָּרוּךְ אַתָּה יהוה אֱלֹהֵינוּ מֶלֶךְ הָעוֹלָם, אֲשֶׁר קִדְשָׁנוּ בְּמִצְוֹתָיו וְצִוָּנוּ לַעֲסֹק בְּדִבְרֵי תוֹרָה.

Baruch Ata Adonai Eloheinu Melech ha'olam, asher kideshanu bemitzvotav vetzivanu la'asok bedivrei Torah.

> ְּהַעֵּרֶב נָא, יהוה אֱלֹהֵינוּ, אֶת דִּבְרֵי תוֹּרָתְךְ בְּפִינוּ וּבְפִי עַמְּךְ בִּית יִשְׂרָאֵל, וְנִהְיֶה אֲנַחְנוּ וְצָאֱצָאֵינוּ, עַמְּךְ בֵּית יִשְׂרָאֵל, כָּלָנוּ יוֹדְעֵי שְׁמֶךְ, וְלוֹמְדֵי תוֹּרָתְךְ לִשְׁמָה. בָּרוּךְ אַתָּה לְשָׁמָה, הַמְלַמֵּר תּוֹרָה לְעַמוֹ יִשְׂרָאֵל.

> > בָּרוּךְ אַתָּה יהוה אֱלֹהֵינוּ מֶלֶךְ הָעוֹלָם, אֲשֶׁר בָּחַר בָּנוּ מִכָּל הָעַמִּים וְנָתַן לָנוּ אֶת תּוֹרָתוֹ.

> > > בָּרוּךְ אַתָּה יהוה, נוֹתֵן הַתּוֹרָה.

Blessed are You, *Adonai*, our God, Majesty of the world, who has made us holy with Your commandments and instructed us to engage in (studying and living) the words of Torah.

Please our God, make sweet the words of Torah in our mouths, and in the mouths of Your people, the house of Israel. Let us, and our children (and their children) and the children of Your people the house of Israel, all know Your name and be students of Your Torah for its own sake. Blessed are You, *Adonai*, who teaches Torah to the people of Israel.

Blessed are You, Adonai, our God, Master of the world, who chose us from among all the people and gave us His Torah.

Blessed are You, *Adonai*, Giver of the Torah.

THINK

One way to understand what Torah is about is to consider other Hebrew words with the same root: pregnant (harah), instruction (hora'ah), parent (horeh), teacher (morah), and light (ohr). Torah is pregnant with instruction from the Ultimate Parent and Teacher about living a luminous life! So, while the Torah is vast, the blessing is about engaging in studying and living the words of Torah, and a little can have a great impact when it makes our behavior kinder.

CONNECT

"The beginning of the Torah is loving-kindness, the middle of the Torah is loving-kindness, and the end of the Torah is loving-kindness." This teaching goes on to give the following three examples of God's loving-kindness: clothing Adam and Eve in the garden of Eden in the beginning, paying a healing visit to Abraham when he was recovering from his circumcision in the middle, and burying Moses at the end. The teaching concludes by inviting us to follow God's ways in order to build our character.

REFLECT

We ask that the Torah be sweet in our mouths. A mouth can both taste and articulate; so, too, are we meant to taste and articulate Torah learning. What learning has been sweet for you? What Torah ideal has affected your behavior in a way that was kind, generous, or loving? How might you share a little Torah regularly with your children (or with other children), and what impact can you imagine this having on your children's children?

PERSONAL PRAYER

God, please bless me, and all parents, to dance Your Torah in delight, so its sweetness is not only in our mouths but in our bones, in ways that keep the sparkle in our children's eyes as they grow.

Let Torah kindle in us new capacities as we face frontiers.

Let it nurture intimacy, open hearts, and uplift consciousness from generation to generation.

Ronit Ziv-Kreger,
 Sharon, Massachusetts



PRIESTLY BLESSING

Numbers 6:24-26

. יְבָרֶכְךְּ יהוה וְיִשְׁמְרֶךְ. May God bless you and protect you.

Yevarechecha Adonai veyishmerecha.

יָאֵר יהוה פָּנָיו May God's face shine . אַלֶּיךְ וִיחֻנָּךְ upon you and give you grace.

Ya'er Adonai panav eilecha vichuneka.

יִשְׂא יהוה פָּנָיו אֵלֶיךְ May God's face turn toward . וְיָשֵׁם לְךְּ שָׁלוֹם you and grant you peace.

Yisa Adonai panav eilecha veyasem lecha shalom.

THINK

Each of the three phrases, which constitute the blessing that priests were instructed to offer the Israelites, bestows both a gift and a supplication for protection from potential pitfalls that would prevent the gift from being well used. The first blessing is for material resources and protection from being corrupted by them.6 The second is for the light of Torah and wisdom to be used graciously and to guard against becoming arrogant from one's Torah learning. The third is for spiritual closeness to God and protection of this gift so that it will be used to bring peace and not division.

CONNECT

The Jewish people are called a "nation of priests" by God.⁷ From the first encounter Abraham has with God, he's told to be a blessing and promised that his descendants will confer blessing. On Friday night, many parents use the priestly blessing to bless their children. They place their hands on their child's head and recite it. Many parents also add a personalized blessing to the traditional one, sharing bright spots they observed in their child over the course of the week.

REFLECT

How do you confer blessing onto others? Consider your immediate and extended family as well as your community and colleagues.

PERSONAL PRAYER

The priestly benediction:

Simple and powerful, asking God for His blessing and protection, at every level and every moment.

May God's light shine on each of us, gently and lovingly, like a parent, grandparent, or adored teacher.

Please, God, turn toward me always, with love, attention, and opportunities for growth.

Grant me inner peace with Your loving nod, and acceptance and understanding that everything is done by Your hand.

Nancee Gross,
 North Bethesda, Maryland

- 6 This interpretation is inspired by Rabbi Ovadia ben Jacob Sforno and Rabbi Samson Raphael Hirsch.
- 7 Exodus 19:6.



FAMILY, LIFE, AND COMMUNITY

Babylonian Talmud, tractate Shabbat 127a

אַלוּ דְבָרִים שָׁאָדָם אוֹכֵל פֵּרוֹתֵיהֶם בְּעוֹלָם הַזֶּה וְהַקֶּרָן קַיֶּמֶת לוֹ לָעוֹלָם הַבָּא וְאֵלוּ הַן: These are the things whose fruit we enjoy in this world and whose full reward awaits us in the world that is coming:

פָבּוּד אָב וָאֵם, וּגְמִילוּת חֲסָדִים, וְהַשְׁכָּמַת בֵּית הַמִּדְרָשׁ שַׁחֲרִית וְעַרְבִית, וְהַכְנָסָת אוֹרְחִים, וּבִקּוּר חוֹלִים, וְהַכְנָסַת כַּלָּה, Honoring of parents; doing acts of lovingkindness; arising early for learning, morning and evening; inviting guests; visiting the sick; helping a bride with what is needed for a wedding, celebrating joyfully; attending to the dead; focusing in prayer; and bringing peace between people –

וּלְוָיַת הַמֵּת, וְעִיוּן תְּפִּלָּה, וַהֲבָאַת שָׁלוֹם בֵּין אָדָם לַחֲבֵרוֹ,

and the study of Torah corresponds to all of these.

וְתַלְמוּד תּוֹרָה כְּנֶגֶד כָּלְם.

THINK

The sages of the Talmud describe in this passage what makes for a good family - honoring parents; what makes for a good life - doing acts of loving-kindness in all of our pursuits and engaging in learning; and what makes for a good community - attending to hosting and welcoming those on the outskirts, caring for those in need, celebrating joyful events, supporting people through loss, praying with intention, fostering forgiveness and peace among people. When have your experienced Torah study that corresponded or contributed to one or more of these?

CONNECT

The word *keneged*, rendered here as "corresponds to," first appears in Torah referring to Adam: God states that it is not good for Adam to be alone, that the time has come to make Adam a corresponding helper.⁸ What could our sages have meant by Torah being *keneged* all other behaviors listed? Perhaps they are telling us that this is also a checklist for the behaviors that studying Torah should foster. Maybe these behaviors can help hasten a transformation of a world that is coming.

REFLECT

What would you include on a checklist of what makes for a good family, a good life, and a good community?

PERSONAL PRAYER

Teach me to love and to make peace.

Let the sweetness of Your Torah remove the bitterness of my words.

Allow the light of Torah to expose the darkness in my secret places.

Give me the strength to live in Your image by honoring the needs of others, accepting their differences, and forgiving their shortcomings.

And as I advocate for the oppressed and abused and extend my heart and hand to the sick and hurting, let it be Torah, let it be You, the world sees.

- Dana Green Pina, Lake Worth, Florida